### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA No. 20-0862

ZACH DAMRON,

DO NOT REMOVE FILE COPY

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The Court Erred by Dismissing Appellant's Constitutional Claim For Deliberate Indifference Pursuant To 42 U.S.C §1983 By Requiring A Certificate Of Merit When It Applied The WVMPLA to Appellant's Cause of Action.

II.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Proceedings in the Court below.

Appellant filed this matter in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, alleging that Respondent PrimeCare violated Appellant's rights under the Constitution of West Virginia by subjecting him to cruel and unusual punishment as well as intentional infliction of emotional distress. JA 1-5. Appellant filed an Amended Complaint that included a claim for violation of his Constitutional rights under the Eighth Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 as well as a claim for negligence. JA 6-12. Respondent PrimeCare filed a motion to Dismiss and Memorandum of Law to which the Appellant responded and to which the Respondent replied. JA 14-62. The Motion and Response included copies of Appellant's medical records as well as a notice of claim filed on behalf of the Appellant. A hearing was held, and the Court entered an Order requiring Appellant to submit a certificate of merit. JA 63-65. Appellant did not submit a certificate of merit and Respondent filed a renewed motion to dismiss and memorandum of law. JA 66-95. Appellant responded to the motion by proceeding solely on the Eighth Amendment claim and by providing case law supporting Appellant's position that expert testimony was unnecessary under

federal law. JA 96-100. Respondent filed a reply and a hearing was held wherein the Court rejected Appellant's argument and indicated that it would rule in Respondent's favor. Prior to entry of that Order, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider that incorporated West Virginia case law that supported Appellant's argument that the Circuit Court should apply federal law to the federal cause of action filed in State Court. Additional briefing took place, after which the Circuit Court entered Orders dismissing Appellant's claim pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 as well as denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider. Appellant now appeals the Circuit Court's Order dismissing his action filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

#### III.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant argues that the Medical Professional Liability Act (W.Va. Code §55-7B-1 et. seq.) does not apply to the action against Respondent alleging violations of Appellant's rights under the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Specifically, Respondent argues that Appellant was required to provide a certificate of merit prior to filing suit. Appellant disagrees and asserts that federal law controls when filing an action alleging a violation of an inmate's constitutional rights under the Eighth Amendment pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983. Appellant relies upon federal precedent that holds deliberate indifference claims are not medical malpractice actions, do not require pre-suit certificates of merit, do not require expert testimony, and provide a mechanism for protecting constitutional rights as determined under federal substantive law. Appellant also relies on West Virginia precedent that has consistently applied federal law to federal causes of action filed in a state court.

#### IV.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

After considering the criteria listed in W.Va. R.App. p. 18(a), Mr. Damron asks that oral argument be granted in this case pursuant to W.Va. R.App. p. 20. This is a case involving the proper application of federal and state law and issues of fundamental public importance. Accordingly, Mr. Damron believes that oral argument will be useful to the Court in its deliberative process.

V.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss is *de novo*. Syl. pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E. 2d 516 (1995). Where the issue on appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, a *de novo* standard of review applies, Syl. pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E. 2d 415 (1995).

- B. THE COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM FOR DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C §1983 BY REQUIRING A CERTIFICATE OF MERIT WHEN IT APPLIED THE WVMPLA TO APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION.
- a) The Eighth Amendment Guarantees an Inmate's Right to Medical Care.

The Eighth Amendment entitles sentenced prisoners to "adequate food, clothing, shelter,

sanitation, medical care and personal safety." Green v. Rubenstein, 644 F. Supp 2d 723, 730 (S.D.W.Va. 2009) (quoting Wolfish v. Levi, 573 F. 2d 118, 125 (2d Cir. 1978), rev'd on other grounds, Bell v. Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L.Ed.2d 447 (1979.)) See also Farmer v. Brennan, 511 U.S. 825, 832, 114 S.Ct. 1970, 1976, 128 L.Ed. 2d 811 (1994)(Supreme Court noted that the Eighth Amendment imposes certain duties upon prison officials to "ensure that inmates receive adequate food, clothing, shelter and medical care, and must 'take reasonable measures to guarantee the safety of the inmates.""), (quoting Hudson v. Palmer, 468 U.S. 517, 526-27, 104 S.Ct. 3194, 3200, 82 L.Ed. 2d 393 (1984). Prisoners are therefore constitutionally guaranteed adequate medical/dental care under the Eighth Amendment. However, as set forth herein, the requirements to prove a constitutional violation is vastly different than a medical professional liability action. Appellant's amended complaint clearly sets forth a claim for deliberate indifference to a serious medical need and should not have been dismissed for lack of certificate of merit. See JA 6-13. For reasons set forth herein, Appellant's 42 U.S.C. § 1983 action is not controlled by the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act but by federal law. Respondent seeks to limit Appellant's constitutional rights through application of a state statute. This attempt is simply unconstitutional.

# b) Appellant's Amended Complaint Alleges That Respondent Was Deliberately Indifferent to a Serious Medical Need.

Count II of Appellant's amended complaint sets forth a cause of action alleging that Respondent was deliberately indifferent to Appellant's medical condition and his suffering. JA 10. In response to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, Appellant specifically stated that he was not

pursuing a medical negligence action but was proceeding solely on the claim made pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. JA 96. In *Green v. Rubenstein* the United States District Court discussed at length the legal precedent governing claims for deliberate indifference. The District Court explained, "A medical need serious enough to give rise to a constitutional claim involves a condition that places the inmate at a substantial risk of serious harm, usually loss of life, or permanent disability, or a condition for which lack of treatment perpetuates severe pain." *Green v. Rubenstein*, 644 F. Supp 2d 723, 741 (S.D.W.Va. 2009)(emphasis added); *See also Farmer*, 511 U.S. at 832-835; *Sosebee v. Murphy*, 797 F.2d 182-83 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986). "Neither mere malpractice, *Estelle*, 429 U.S. [97] at 105-06, S.Ct. 285 [(1976)], nor mere negligence in diagnosis give rise to an eighth amendment claim." *Rubenstein*, 644 F. Supp 2d at 731 (citing *Sosebee v. Murphy*, 797 F.2d 179, 181 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986)). "Rather, to be actionable, the treatment, or lack thereof, 'must be so grossly incompetent, inadequate or excessive as to shock the conscience or to be intolerable to fundamental fairness." *Rubenstein*, 644 F. Supp 2d at 731 (quoting *Miltier v. Beorn*, 896 F. 2d 848, 851 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1990)).

Appellant argued before the Circuit Court that Respondent's failure to treat/refer Appellant to a specialist or any medical provider for bilateral broken mandibles and nasal fractures for approximately a month, is a condition that would perpetuate severe pain or potential permanent disability as described in *Sosebee*, therefore giving rise to an action under the Eighth Amendment. Failure to timely evaluate, assess and treat a broken mandible can also be considered cruel and unusual punishment. Finally, Appellant argued that the conditions suffered by Appellant are the very type Courts have consistently found to substantiate 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims. *See Loe v. Armistead*, 582 F. 2d 1291(4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 928, 100 S. Ct. 1865, 64 L.Ed.2d

281 (1980)(Pretrial detainee's allegations of delay in treatment of his broken arm indicated a reasonable basis for inferring deliberate indifference to his serious medical needs.). Respondent's own medical records establish that Mr. Damron was denied appropriate medical care for a serious medical condition in direct violation of his Constitutional rights. The record below establishes that it was approximately one month before Appellant was referred to a specialist. *See* JA 56. Appellant alleges that he was injured on the 5<sup>th</sup> of October 2016 and did not see a specialist until November 3, 2016. On its face, Respondent was deliberately indifferent to Appellant's serious medical needs. Because Appellant clearly stated a federal claim for deliberate indifference, the matter should be remanded to the Circuit Court for trial.

# c) Federal Law Controls Actions for Violations of an Inmate's Constitutional Rights.

In *Green v. Rubenstein*, the plaintiff filed both a claim for a violation of his Eighth Amendment right for failure to provide adequate medical care as well as a claim for medical negligence. The District Court dismissed the medical negligence action because the plaintiff had failed to comply with the WVMPLA. The District Court however denied the motion to dismiss plaintiff's deliberate indifference claim against the corporate entity contracted to provide medical care for the inmates. The Court in its ruling made a clear distinction between actions brought pursuant to state law and plaintiff's Eighth Amendment claim, a claim not governed by the WVMPLA. *Green v. Rubenstein*, 644 F. Supp 2d 723, 738 (S.D.W.Va. 2009).

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has consistently held that "federal law is controlling when public officials are sued in state court for violations of federal rights under 42

U.S.C §1983." Lunsford v. Shy, 842 SE 2d 728 (W.Va. 2020) (quoting Robinson v. Pack, 223 W.Va. 828, 834 (2009)); See also Brumfield v. Workman No. 16-109 (W.Va. Mar 26, 2019)(memorandum decision holding that federal actions filed in state court are controlled by federal law). In addition to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, other jurisdictions have held that pre-suit certificate requirements are not applicable to claims made pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because such actions are not medical malpractice claims. See Arnett v. Webster, 658 F. 3d 742, 751 (7th Cir. 2011)(deliberate indifference claims are fundamentally distinct from a medical malpractice claim.); Harbison v. Tanner, 1:12-cv-01623-WTL-MJD,(S.D. Ind. 2013) (Pacer) (Dinsmore, Magistrate Order on Motion to Dismiss)(court dismissed plaintiff's claim's under the Indiana Medical Malpractice Act but did not dismiss plaintiff's 42 U.S.C. §1983 claim for deliberate indifference against the doctor).

# d) It is Well Established That Expert Testimony is Unnecessary to Establish Claims Under the Eighth Amendment for Deliberate Indifference.

It is also well established that:

There is no requirement, however, that a Appellant alleging deliberate indifference present expert testimony to support his allegations of serious injury or substantial risk of serious injury. Rather, the Federal Rules of Evidence apply, and expert testimony is necessary – indeed, permissible- only when it will "help the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." Fed. R. Evid. 702(a). When laypersons are just "as capable of comprehending the primary facts and of drawing correct conclusions from them" as are experts, expert testimony may properly be excluded. *Salem v. U.S. Lines Co.*, 370 U.S. 31, 35, 82 S.Ct. 1119, 8 L.Ed. 2d 313 (1962). As a result, when the seriousness of an injury or illness and the risk of leaving that injury or illness untreated would be apparent to a layperson, expert testimony is not necessary to establish a deliberate indifference claim. *See, e.g., Blackmore v. Kalamazoo Cty.*, 390 F. 3d 890, 899-900 (6th Cir. 2004); *Boring v. Kozakiewicz*, 833 F.2d 468, 473 (3d Cir. 1987).

Scinto v. Starsberry, 841 F. 3d 219, 230 (4th Cir. 2016).

The Court in *Scinto* went on to discuss how other circuits have also found expert testimony unnecessary in Eighth Amendment claims. In these cases, inmates alleged that prison officials deprived diabetics of insulin. *See, Lolli v. City of Orange*, 351 F. 3d 4110 (9th Cir. 2003), *Natalie v. Camden City Corr. Facility*, 318 F. 3d 575 (3rd Cir. 2003). Because it is well established that expert testimony is unnecessary in claims for deliberate indifference brought pursuant to the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution, Appellant should not have been required to submit a certificate of merit.

In Sherron v. Correction Care Director I, the Magistrate Judge recognized the distinction between a medical malpractice action and a claim for deliberate indifference when it declined to dismiss the plaintiff's lawsuit for failure to meet the pre-suit requisites for a medical professional liability action. Sherron v. Corr. Care Dir I., 1:15-cv-852 at 5 (M.D. N.C. October 17, 2016) (Fastcase) (Auld, Magistrate Opinion Order and Recommendation adopted by District Court November 18, 2016). North Carolina is similar to West Virginia in that it requires a certificate from a qualified expert that they have reviewed the available medical records and that there was a breach of the standard of care. In recommending that the 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claim not be dismissed, the Court rejected the Respondent's contention that Appellant had failed to comply with N.C.R. Civ. P. 9(j) which requires certification in medical malpractice actions. Id at 5; See also Deal v Central Prison Hosp., Civil Action No. 5:09-CT-3182-FL, 2011 WL 322403, at \*4 (E.D.N.C. Jan. 27, 2011) (dismissing medical malpractice claim for failure to comply with Rule 9(j), but denying Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss § 1983 claim). A similar opinion out of the Middle District of

North Carolina held Rule 9(j) applies solely to medical malpractice claims and lacks relevance to section 1983 claims. *Durand v. Charles, M.D.*, 1:16-cv-86 at 17-18 (M.D. N.C. December 30, 2016) (Auld, Magistrate Opinion Order and Recommendation adopted by District Court January 26, 2017). *See also Tucker v. Duncan*, 499 F. 2d 693 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1974) (Section 1983 was intended to protect only federal rights guaranteed by federal law, and not tort claims for which there are adequate remedies under state law.). Because Federal and state jurisprudence has consistently held that federal law controls actions arising under federal law, the Circuit Court's Dismissal should be overturned and the matter should be remanded for trial.

#### VI.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set forth above, Appellant respectfully asks the Court to overturn the Dismissal Order entered below and remand the case to the Circuit Court for trial.