IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court and thereby find that it appropriately dismissed Petitioner's claims. The record below demonstrates that all of Petitioner's claims, regardless of the labels he assigned to them, sound solely in terms of medical negligence and thus are subject to the pre-suit notice requirements of the MPLA. This Court has previously expressed its disfavor of claimants playing "the name game" with their purported causes of action with the sole purpose of avoiding the legislative protections afforded to health care providers by the MPLA. Further, even if this Court finds that Petitioner's alleged deliberate indifference claim is not subject to the MPLA, the Circuit Court still properly dismissed such claim because the allegations set forth by Petitioner are utterly insufficient to substantiate a viable Eighth Amendment claim for deliberate indifference to a serious medical need. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision below.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Respondent respectfully asserts that, pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is warranted in this matter pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as this case involves assignments of error in the application of

settled law. See W.Va. R. App. P. 19(a). Further, Respondent respectfully asserts that a Memorandum Decision pursuant to Rule 21(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure is appropriate in this matter given that Petitioner's appeal does not raise any substantial question of law and presents no prejudicial error.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appellate standard of review of a circuit court's order granting of a motion to dismiss a complaint is de novo. Syl. Pt. 2, State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, 194 W.Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995); see also, Ruckdeschel v. Falcon Drilling Co., L.L.C., 225 W.Va. 450, 454, 693 S.E.2d 815 (2010).

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court dismissing Petitioner's claims for three fundamental reasons. First, the record below clearly demonstrates that Petitioner's claims (although deceitfully named) truly all sound in terms of medical negligence and are therefore subject to the MPLA and were properly dismissed based on Petitioner's failure to comply with the MPLA's pre-suit notice requirements. Second, even if Petitioner could demonstrate that he truly has a separate Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claim, his allegations are utterly insufficient to substantiate such a claim and the Circuit Court thus properly dismissed his action. Third, permitting claimants, such as Petitioner, to proceed with such thinly-disguised "non-MPLA" claims when the true import of their allegations all sound in terms of medical negligence denies critical legislative

protections afforded by the MPLA to health care providers who choose to practice in underserved areas of public health such as Correctional Medicine.

A. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERROR IN ITS DISMISSAL OF ALL OF PETITIONER'S CLAIMS, INCLUDING HIS CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIM FOR DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983, BECAUSE THE UNDERLYING NATURE OF ALL OF SUCH CLAIMS INVOLVED THE RENDERING OR ALLEGED FAILURE TO RENDER HEALTH CARE MAKING THEM SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE MPLA.

Petitioner advocates for this Court to acknowledge and accept a "hide and seek" standard pursuant to which, regardless of the actual factual basis of a purported claim, a claimant can call his medical professional liability action by any other name (e.g., an Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claim) and thus simply avoid the legislatively-mandated protections afforded to health care providers by the MPLA. Here, the record below leaves no doubt that the fundamental basis of all of Petitioner's claims is solely that of medical negligence. This is unequivocally demonstrated by, inter alia, his pre-suit filing (although deficient) of an MPLA-required Notice of Claim, his briefing below in opposition to dismissal of his Amended Complaint asserting that he had, in-fact, complied with the MPLA notice requirements and the factual basis that he pled in support of his claims. (See Notice of Claim, Joint Appendix, at p. 45; see also Response to Def.'s Motion to Dismiss Complaint, at pp. 3-4, Joint Appendix, at pp. 51-52; see also generally, Amend. Compl., Joint Appendix, at pp. 6-13). In fact, the only substantive factual allegations set forth in Petitioner's Amended Complaint were that:

After October 5, 2016, defendants PrimeCare and John/Jane Doe employees violated jail policy when they failed to obtain timely medical care for plaintiff after learning that he had suffered a broken jaw. Shortly after plaintiff suffered the broken jaw, defendants learned through x-rays that plaintiff's jaw was fractured. Despite their knowledge, defendants delayed sending plaintiff to a specialist for treatment.

(Amend. Compl. at \P 8, *Joint Appendix*, at p. 8).

Petitioner is not permitted to hide behind the guise of a constitutional claim in order to avoid the mandatory application of the MPLA. This Court has made unmistakably clear that "[w]here the alleged tortious acts or omissions are committed by a health care provided within the context of rendering 'health care'...the act applies regardless of how the claims have been pled." See Syl. Pt. 4, in part, Blankenship v. Ethicon, Inc., 221 W.Va. 700, 656 S.E.2d 451 (2007); see also Syl. Pt. 3, State ex rel. PrimeCare Med. of W.Va., Inc. v. Faircloth, 242 W.Va. 335, 835 S.E.2d 579 (2019). Petitioner's attempt to mask his claims under the veil of a constitutional claim as an excuse for his failure to comply with the MPLA does not shield his claims from the MPLA and therefore save them from dismissal. See Syl. Pt. 4, in part, Blankenship, 221 W.Va. at 700, 656 S.E.2d at 451 ("The failure to plead a claim as governed by the [MPLA], does not preclude application of the Act.").

In the matter *sub judice*, there is no dispute that Respondent is a "health care provider" as the term is defined in the MPLA. See W.Va. Code § 55-7B-2(g);

⁷ "Health care provider" means a person, partnership, corporation, professional limited liability company, health care facility, entity or institution licensed by, or certified in, this state or another state, to provide health care or professional health care services, including, but not

(see also Amend. Compl. at ¶ 3, Joint Appendix, at p. 7 (stating PrimeCare is "responsible for facilitating the transportation of inmates for medical care when needed."); see also Response to Def.'s Motion to Dismiss Compl. at p. 1, Joint Appendix, at p. 96 (stating PrimeCare "is a health service business...responsible for providing proper and timely care to the plaintiff.")). Further, there is no dispute that all of Petitioner's claims, regardless of how they are plead, stem solely from the rendering of, or alleged failure to render, "health care," and therefore sound exclusively in terms of medical negligence. (See generally Amend. Compl., Joint Appendix, at pp. 6-13.) Specifically addressing Plaintiff's "deliberate indifference" claim, he asserted only that Respondent violated his medical needs by allegedly delaying the rendering of outside medical treatment for his broken jaw. (See id. at ¶ 19, Joint Appendix, at p. 10). Those allegations, although labeled as "deliberate indifference" by Petitioner, fit precisely into the MPLA's definition of "medical

limited to, a physician, osteopathic physician, physician assistant, advanced practice registered nurse, hospital, health care facility, dentist, registered or licensed practical nurse, optometrist, podiatrist, chiropractor, physical therapist, speech-language pathologist, audiologist, occupational therapist, psychologist, pharmacist, technician, certified nursing assistant, emergency medical service personnel, emergency medical services authority or agency, any person supervised by or acting under the direction of a licensed professional, any person taking actions or providing service or treatment pursuant to or in furtherance of a physician's plan of care, a health care facility's plan of care, medical diagnosis or treatment; or an officer, employee or agent of a health care provider acting in the course and scope of the officer's, employee's or agent's employment. See W.Va. Code § 55-7B-2(g) (emphasis added).

⁸ "Health care" means...(2) any act, service or treatment performed or furnished, or which should have been performed or furnished, by any health care provider or person supervised by or acting under the direction of a health care provider or licensed professional for, to or on behalf of a patient during the patient's medical care, treatment or confinement, including, but not limited to, staffing, medical transport, custodial care or basis care, infection control, positioning, hydration, nutrition and similar patient services. See W.Va. Code § 55-7B-2(e)(2) (emphasis added).

professional liability." See W.Va. Code § 55-7B-2(i). Specifically, the MPLA defines "medical professional liability" as follows:

...any liability for damages resulting from the death or injury of a person for any tort or breach of contract based on health care services rendered, or which should have been rendered, by a health care provider or health care facility to a patient. It also means other claims that may be contemporaneous to or related to the alleged tort or breach of contract or otherwise provided, all in the context of rendering health care services.

Id. (emphasis added). Petitioner's claims, regardless of the arbitrary labels he assigns to them, are simply claims for "damages resulting from the injury of a person based on health care services which should have been rendered by a health care provider." (See generally Amend. Compl, Joint Appendix, at pp. 6-13); cf. id. It is clear, especially in light of the analysis set forth infra, that Petitioner's deliberate indifference claim is merely a contemporaneous claim ultimately relating to the rendering, or alleged failure to render, health care services. Therefore, he cannot avoid the MPLA's application in this matter and, as result of his failure to properly comply with the MPLA's pre-suit notice requirements, the Circuit Court appropriately dismissed his claims. Therefore, this Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.

B. EVEN IF PETITIONER CAN DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS CLAIM FOR DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE PURSUANT TO 42 U.S.C. § 1983 IS NOT SUBJECT TO THE MPLA, THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DISMISSAL OF SUCH CLAIM WAS NOT IN ERROR BECAUSE HE FAILED TO PLEAD ALLEGATIONS SUFFICENT TO SUBSTANTIATE A VIABLE EIGHTH AMENDMENT DELIBERATE INDIFFERENCE CLAIM.

Even assuming arguendo that Petitioner is correct and can show that his Eighth Amendment deliberate indifference claim is truly separate and distinct form his other claims and arguably not subject to the MPLA, the Circuit Court's ultimate dismissal of such claim was not in error.

As Petitioner notes in his brief, the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution prohibits cruel and unusual punishment, including the "unnecessary and wanton infliction of pain." *Gregg v. Georgia*, 428 U.S. 153, 173, 96 S. Ct. 2909, 49 L. Ed. 2d 859 (1976). To comply with the Eighth Amendment, each State must provide its sentenced prisoners with "adequate food, clothing, shelter, and medical care...." *Estelle v. Gamble*, 429 U.S. 97, 103, 97 S. Ct. 285, 50 L. Ed. 2d. 251 (1976). A prison official, including a correctional medical professional, violates the Eighth Amendment when he or she responds to a prisoner's serious medical need with deliberate indifference. *See Estelle*, 429 U.S. at 104; *Farmer v. Brennan*, 511 U.S. 825, 834, 114 S. Ct. 1970, 128 L. Ed. 2d 811 (1994).

In 1976, the United States Supreme Court set the standard for evaluating whether a prisoner's Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment was violated based upon a prison health care provider's deliberate indifference to the prisoner's serious medical needs. *Estelle*, 429 U.S. at 97. The standard is of a two-pronged nature and includes a subjective prong (*i.e.*, deliberate indifference) and an objective prong (*i.e.*, to a serious medical need). *See* id. Addressing the objective prong first, "serious medical needs" are those which have been diagnosed by a physician as mandating treatment or that are so obvious that

even a lay person would easily recognize the necessity for a doctor's attention. Gaudreault v. Munic of Salem, Mass., 923 F.2d 203, 208 (1st Cir. 1990); Iko v. Shreve, 535 F.3d 225, 241 (4th Cir. 2008) (quoting Henderson v. Sheanhan, 196 F.3d 839, 846 (7th Cir. 1976).

Second, the subjective prong of "deliberate indifference" is an extraordinarily high bar to overcome. See Gaylor v. Dagher, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12400, at *20, 2011 WL 482834 (S.D.W. Va. January 14, 2011) ("The burden of demonstrating deliberate indifference to a serious medical need by...health care providers is very high"). This subjective prong requires that an inmate show that the prison health care provider "knows of and disregards" the risk posed by the serious medical needs of the inmate. Farmer, 511 U.S. at 837. Thus, buried within the test for the subjective prong are two additional and specific elements of the prison health care provider's state of mind that must be shown to sufficiently establish the subjective prong of "deliberate indifference." First, actual knowledge of the risk of harm to the inmate is required. Young v. City of Mt. Ranier, 238 F.3d 567, 575-76 (4th Cir. 2001); see also Parrish ex rel. Lee v. Cleveland, 372 F.3d 294, 303 (4th Cir. 2004) ("It is not enough that the officer should have recognized it."). Second, beyond such actual knowledge, the prison health care official must also have "recognized that his [or her] actions were insufficient" to mitigate the risk of harm to an inmate arising from his medical needs. *Parrish*, 372 F.3d at 303.

Critically, a simple delay of medical care does not axiomatically translate into a "constitutional liability[;]" nor do mere disagreements between medical providers

and inmates. See Farmer, 511 U.S. at 834; see also, Wright v. Collins, 766 F.2d 841, 849 (4th Cir. 1985) ("Disagreements between an inmate and a physician over the inmate's proper medical care do not state a § 1983 claim unless exceptional circumstances are alleged."). The subjective prong of "deliberate indifference" entails "something more than mere negligence." See id. Neither mere malpractice, nor mere negligence in diagnosis gives rise to an Eighth Amendment claim. See Green v. Rubenstein, 644 F. Supp. 2d 723, 731, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22368, *9-10 (S.D. W.Va., March 18, 2009) (citing Sosebee v. Murphy, 797 F.2d 179, 181 (4th Cir. 1986)). Rather, to be actionable, the treatment, or lack thereof, "must be so grossly incompetent, inadequate or excessive as to shock the conscious or to be intolerable to fundamental fairness" Green, 644 F. Supp. 2d at 731-32, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22368, at *10 (citing Miltier v. Beorn, 896 F.2d 848, 851 (4th Cir. 1990)).9

In the matter *sub judice*, the record below demonstrates that Petitioner suffered an injury to his jaw during an alternation with another inmate and received prompt medical attention by Respondent. (See Def., PrimeCare Med. of W.Va., Inc. Memo. of Law In Support of Motion to Dismiss and Alt. Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 2-4, *Joint Appendix*, 15-17). During the course of receiving medical care by Respondent, Petitioner indisputably received x-rays, a computed tomography (CT) scan, was housed in a medical unit and arrangements

⁹ It should also be noted that "[m]ultiple courts have held that inmates are not entitled to unqualified access to healthcare" and "inmates are not entitled to be best medical care or the particular medical care of the inmate's choosing." See Stevens v. Jividen, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 39480, at *43-44 (N.D.W.Va. January 5, 2021) (citing Bowring v. Godwin, 551 F.2d 44, 47-48 (4th Cir. 1977); Wright, 776 F.2d at 841-849; Witherspoon v. United States, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107159 *10 (S.D.W. Va. September 27, 2010)).

were made for Petitioner to be seen by an outside maxillofacial surgery specialist. (Id.) Of course, as one would reasonably expect, all of this medical care was not instantaneous. Petitioner was not immediately seen by the outside maxillofacial surgery specialist shortly after his injury as he apparently believes he should have been. Instead, Petitioner first received other forms of medical care such as x-rays and a CT scan all of which were necessary prerequisites to diagnosing his injuries and ultimately determining the need for an outside specialist. (Id.)

In fact, Petitioner summarized his undisputed treatment course in his briefing below to the Circuit Court as follows:

Defendant's medical records set forth the following timeline:

- 1) October 6, 2016 Inmate seen in medical for jaw pain.
- 2) October 8, 2016 Damron informs correctional offices that he has a fractured jaw and has not been seen despite putting in sick calls.
- 3) October 8, 2016 EMDS called for x-ray.
- 4) October 8, 2016 Mandible x-ray, Films electronically limited limited study with nondisplaced fracture of the right mandible.
- 5) October 9, 2016 called on doctor for x-ray, results orders obtained.
- 6) October 11, 2016 Continue in medical due to fx jaw.
- 7) October 11, 2016 Continue to house in medical unit CT Scan completed.
- 8) October 14, 2016 will f/u with oral surgery and CT.

- 9) October 21, 2016 CT scan shows both right and left mandibular fractures as well as nasal bone fractures.
- 10) October 31, 2016 awaiting follow-up with oral surgeon for fractured mandible.
- 11) November 3, 2016 note from maxillofacial surgeon no treatment.

(Response to Def.'s Motion to Dismiss Compl., at pp. 1-2, Joint Appendix, at pp. 49-50; see also, Response to Def.'s Motion to Dismiss Compl. at p. 2, Joint Appendix, at p. 97). Petitioner's own summary demonstrates that Petitioner was promptly treated subsequent to this injury and that Respondent appropriately coordinated with outside entities for the testing necessary to diagnosis the scope of Petitioner's injury. (Id.) It is undisputed that Petitioner was promptly seen and evaluated in the medical unit. (Id.; see also Def., PrimeCare Med. of W.Va., Inc. Memo. of Law In Support of Motion to Dismiss and Alt. Motion for Summary Judgment at pp. 2-4, Joint Appendix, 15-17). The medical unit evaluation included a physical examination and vitals check. (Id.) Thereafter, when Petitioner had continued complaints of pain, an x-ray was obtained which showed a questionable nondisplaced fracture and thus required further diagnostic testing, including a CT. (Id.) A CT was obtained within thirteen days of the questionable x-ray and an appointment with an outside maxillofacial surgery specialist was obtained within thirteen days after the CT. (Id.)

However, this record also indisputably shows that the delays which did occur were the result of obtaining x-ray and CT services from outside providers, as well as delays in scheduling with the outside maxillofacial surgery specialist — despite

documented routine follow up requests by Respondent. (Id.) The timing of such events is outside of Respondent's control and Respondent cannot be said to have acted with deliberate indifference because of delays caused by outside providers. See e.g., Madera v. Ezekwe, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 171948, 2013 WL 6231799, * 12 (E.D.N.Y. December 2, 2013) (observing that courts have "refused to find deliberate indifference where delays in treatment were caused by circumstances that were outside the control of the charged officials."); see also e.g., Henderson v. Sommer, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 37202, 2011 WL 1346818 (S.D.N.Y. April 1, 2011) (holding that where an inmate "was treated regularly with pain medication and orthopedic consults prior to surgical intervention, where any delay before surgery appears to have resulted from a third-party's scheduling constraints...[p]laintiff's Eighth Amendment claim must fail.") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

In his brief, Petitioner relies almost exclusively, on the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia's decision in *Green v. Rubenstien*, 644 F. Supp. 2d 723, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22368, (S.D.W. Va., March 18, 2009) in support of his argument that a slight delay in being seen by an outside medical specialist is sufficient to substantiate s viable deliberate indifference claim. *See* Petitioner's Brief at pp. 5-6. However, even a rudimentary reading of *Green* reveals the opposite. In *Green*, the plaintiff argued, *inter alia*, that a prison dentist's delay in providing medical care (*i.e.*, removing a tooth fragment) caused him pain and suffering in violation of the Eighth Amendment and that he was entitled to relief. *Id.* The District Court assumed for purposes of analysis that the plaintiff's medical

needs were sufficiently serious and thus the objective prong of the Eighth Amendment standard was satisfied. *Id.* at 732, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22368, at *10. However, in determining whether the plaintiff's complaint set forth sufficient factual allegations to satisfy the subjective prong and show that the prison dentist was deliberately indifferent, the District Court in *Green* noted the following facts:

Plaintiff alleges that Dr. DeVere became aware that Plaintiff needed dental care to remove a tooth fragment or bone on September 8, 2006, but did not treat Plaintiff until May 3, 2007. The medical records show that Dr. DeVere provided Plaintiff with dental services four other times between those dates — on September 11, 2006, September 27, 2006, January 12, 2007, and April 26, 2007. Notably, the record indicates that in April 26, 2007, Dr. DeVere examined Plaintiff in response to Plaintiff filing a G-1 grievance form on April 19, 2006. During that examination, Dr. DeVere recorded in Plaintiff's medical record that Plaintiff's tooth fragment needed to be removed. On May 3, 2007, Dr. DeVere performed oral surgery on Plaintiff.

During the eight-month time period in question, Plaintiff received medical attention five times and refused treatment one other time. The record indicates that some of Plaintiff's examinations were regarding adjustments of his dentures rather than the removal of his tooth fragment. Nevertheless, five meetings in the course of eight months indicates that Dr. DeVere provided treatment that was far from grossly inadequate.

Id. at 732, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22368, at *10-11. Thus, even the factual allegations presented to the District Court in *Green*, demonstrating an eight month delay in removing the plaintiff's tooth fragment (an assumed serious medical need), did not ultimately amount to deliberate indifference.¹⁰

¹⁰ As Petitioner notes in his Brief, the Magistrate Judge's Proposed Findings and Recommendations in *Green* noted that the plaintiff could maintain a medical negligence action subject to the MPLA

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